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ABOUT THIS REPORT

This is the ninth integrated annual report of 
Rand Refinery (Pty) Limited. It is our single most 
important external communication of the year 
and is primarily aimed at providers of financial 
capital – our shareholders and lenders.

In this report the leadership of Rand Refinery sets out 
how its strategy was developed and implemented, in 
the year reviewed, to create value for stakeholders, and 
how this strategy seeks to continue creating sustainable 
value into the future. (As such, some of the information 
in this integrated report is forward looking. Readers are 
advised to treat any such forward-looking information 
with caution and not to act upon any projected or 
envisaged eventualities which may or may not occur, 
either in the quantum envisaged or at all.)

The report is concerned with those matters deemed 
material to Rand Refinery’s creation of value and the 
interests of various stakeholder groupings. The audit 
and risk committee was authorised by the board to 
delegate to the chief financial officer (CFO) instruction 
to the reporting team (comprising both internal and 
external resources) and to ensure that the process of 
report compilation was in accordance with the board’s 
wishes and directives. All directors were given the 
opportunity to give input into drafts of the report, and 
to have such input considered and included. 

Materiality

As part of the delegation of authority to the CFO he 
was entrusted with instructing the reporting team 
on the board’s expectations in terms of materiality 
(commensurate with the principle of conciseness). 
Additional and more detailed information on material 
aspects covered in this report may be requested at any 
time from the Company Secretary’s office. 

Focus on risk and opportunity

Much of the content of the 2019 integrated report 
is concerned with risks and opportunities facing 
the business and the interests of its stakeholders. 
It contains disclosure on our use and effects on the 
financial, social, human, manufactured and natural 
capitals at the Company’s disposal. 

Stakeholder relationships, expectations and needs 
are a common thread running throughout this report. 
Given the nature of these relationships and our 
business model, the report stresses the importance 
Rand Refinery attaches to Responsible Gold and 
socially and environmentally responsible sourcing. 

Governance best practice, as set out in the King 
Report on Corporate Governance (King IV) guides our 
leadership policies, structures and decision-making 
and, as such, King IV’s recommended practice on 
reporting informed the compilation of this report. 
This report has been compiled in accordance with the 
International Integrated Reporting <IR>  Framework .

Our annual financial statements were prepared 
according to International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS), the requirements of the South 
African Companies Act and the recommendations of 
King IV. 

In the 2019 financial year there were no significant 
changes to our company structure. Nor were there any 
significant restatements of data during the previous 
year. Information in the report covers all subsidiaries. 

Report approval

The audit and risk committee recommended this 
report for approval by the board, which approval was 
granted on 14 November 2019.

Signed

R. Ramashia (Chairman)
P. Baijnath (CEO)
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SSHEQ 
‘I take personal 
responsibility for 
security, safety, 

health, environment 
and quality. 

Accuracy 
and 

precision 
‘Every milligram 
counts for me’. 

Delivery 
culture 

‘I am accountable 
and results 
oriented’. 

Ubuntu 
‘I am honest, respectful, 
mindful of our diversity 

and behave with 
integrity in my daily 

interactions’. 

Responsibility 
Perfection 

Respect 
Customer Satisfaction 

Accountability 

Integrity 

OUR VALUE-CREATION PROCESS

Rand Refinery is a single-site integrated Refiner, 
Smelter and Value Added Products Fabricator 
of precious metals. Since 1920 the company has 
refined more than 50 000 tons of gold – almost 
a third of the metal yet produced worldwide.

In addition to smelting and refining, Rand Refinery 
offers evaluation, vaulting as well as logistics services. 
Refining gold and silver and beneficiating this into  
value-added products (fabrication) is a key part of our 
value-creation process.

For the past two decades the company has focused 
on extending its footprint throughout Africa and 
other geographies, to increase its capacity utilisation 
by securing new sources of mine doré and low-grade 
precious metal-bearing waste material.

We manage the entire value chain from mine to finished 
products. Krugerrand coins represent a competency 
which has been developed over the past 52 years. 

In its 99-year history, Rand Refinery has established a 
reputation for integrity, reliability and quality among 
its customers, bullion banks, commodity traders and 
coin distributors. Reputation is critical to our licence 
to operate, and underpins our continued accreditation 
with major international metal exchanges including 
the London Bullion Market Association (LBMA) for 
which Rand Refinery is the only referee in the southern 
hemisphere.
 
Underpinning our reputation is our 100% commitment 
to Responsible Gold (see page 7). We only refine 
or process material in our smelter from miners and 
other sources whose probity is beyond question and 
has been independently assured by ourselves, to 
internationally accepted standards. We go to great 
lengths to ensure that those from whom we source 
material meet recognised environmental, social and 
governance (ESG) standards and codes. 

Today Rand Refinery’s footprint spans 34 countries.
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Rand Refinery creates value for its shareholders by 
refining gold and silver inputs to world-class standards 
cost-effectively and reliably. We also provide an outlet 
for socio-economic development (particularly through 
supported beneficiation including jewellery making) 
and enterprise and supplier development.

Our business employs approximately 460 people, more 
than 65% of  whom are skilled individuals.

The Germiston facility’s refinery function has a capacity 
of 410 tons of output (refined gold) per annum. In 
FY 2019 capacity utilisation was at 80% (2018: 90%).

The smelter has an annual capacity of 7 000 to 9 000 
gross tons – also measured in terms of output, which 
is used as feedstock in the refining process. In 2019 
capacity utilisation was at 75% (2018: 82%).

Located in Germiston on 
Gauteng’s East Rand 
(in the metropolitan area of Ekurhuleni), 

RAND REFINERY 
is owned by South Africa’s 
leading gold-mining 
companies as follows:

Refinery

Fabrication

Smelting

60%

24%

16%

In the 2019 financial year 
Rand Refinery derived its 
revenue from these sources:

AngloGold Ashanti
Harmony Gold Mining
(at group Level)

Sibanye Gold

Gold Fields Operations

DRDGold
(at group level)

42,41%

33,15%

11,30%

10,38%

2,76%

OUR VALUE-CREATION PROCESS

Some 80% of the gold material we refine is sourced 
from our shareholders. Very little secondary material 
is sourced from within South Africa due to cross 
contamination with other sources. This reflects our 
utmost commitment to responsible sourcing and 
where the provenance of secondary material cannot 
be adequately assured, we elect to not receive such 
inputs. 
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INPUTS

CREATING BROAD-BASED VALUE
RAND REFINERY refines gold to the world’s most demanding standards. It then 
beneficiates this gold (and silver), creating value for miners, employees, jewellers, 
suppliers, entrepreneurs, governments, manufacturers, dealers and the entire gold 
value chain. 

NATURAL CAPITAL

FINANCIAL CAPITAL

Electricity Gwh

Gas GJ

Water kl

Ordinary share-
holder capital

Preferential 
shares 

Assessed tax 
loss

26 312

15 349

68 630

R1 million

R806 million

R1 264 million

R1 million

R1 081 million

R1 356 million

R4.7 million

R45 million

R54 million

27 911

18 370

77 503

R3.0 million

R50 million

R49 million

INTELLECTUAL CAPITAL

MANUFACTURING CAPITAL

Training 
Spend

Capital 
expenditure

Depreciation

2019 2018

2019

2019

2019

HUMAN CAPITAL

Employees 460 455

2019 2018

2018

2018

2018

MATERIALS

PROCESSING

SMELTER (Gross tons)

REFINERY (Gross tons)

Low-grade 
mine waste

Sweeps       

Mine doré

Secondary

1 050

138

302

39

905

171

298

28

2019

2019

2018

2018

Our smelter processes low-grade 
materials into doré, which can be 
cost-effectively refined. The refinery 
sends to the smelter low-grade 
“sweeps” which are smelted and   
upgraded

EVALUATION
Evaluation and assaying are services we 
offer to depositing customers as well as 
others whose material we do not necessarily 
process but who use our expertise and 
bankable assessments to determine the 
content of their material
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PRODUCTS
Kilobars, LGD bars, wire, coin blanks, 
minted bars, jewellery, granules etc. 

MANUFACTURING

This is the fabrication process, from which 
Rand Refinery derives most of its added 
value. Casting refers to the casting of gold 
bars, bought by, mostly, bullion banks. 
Minting is the production of gold and silver   
(and, in future, platinum) coins

NATURAL CAPITAL

CO
2
 emissions (kt)

SO
2
 emissions (kt)

Water        
consumption (kl)

22.5

24.56mg/nm3

68.63

28.5

not measured

77.50

2019 2018

FINANCIAL CAPITAL

Preference share 
redemptions R500 million R275 million

2019 2018

OUTPUTS

SOCIAL CAPITAL

Socio-economic 
development
expenditure / 
value add/ jobs 
created

Enterprise 
development

R1 million

R1 million

R1.3 million

R0.9 million

R0.7 million

R1.1 million

2019 2018

2.5 million

67%

33%

1.7 million

55%

45%

MANUFACTURING CAPITAL

KR amount (oz)

VAP %

LGDB %

2019 2018

2 528

619

6 152

952

INTELLECTUAL CAPITAL

Hours of 
training

Staff trained

2019 2018

HUMAN CAPITAL

Employees
at year end

Salaries and 
wages paid

460

R307 million

455

R304 million

2019 2018

Integrated Annual Report 2019

Supplier
Development

RAND REFINERY produces a wide range 
of gold and silver products.

Since inception we have produced 400 oz gold 
bars, the internationally accepted trading standard 
used by dealers, traders and bullion banks. With 
fineness of 99.95% or 99.99%.

We also produce 100 oz, 100 gm and 1 000 gm cast bars.

Good Delivery 1 000 oz silver bars are also produced.

Good Delivery cast bars

Investment gold and silver products made in 2 gm, 
5 gm, 10 gm, 20 gm, 1 oz, 50 gm and 100 gm.

Minted bars

Legal tender bullion coins made from 22 carat gold - 
Available in sizes ranging from 1/10 oz to 1 oz. 

Gold Krugerrands
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RESPONSIBLE GOLD AND RESPONSIBLE SILVER

Compliances

FY16

FY17

FY18

FY19

1

0

0

2

Our commitment to Responsible Gold 
and  Responsible Silver underpins our most 
fundamental licence to operate. 

Since 1987 Rand Refinery has enjoyed London Bullion 
Market Association (LBMA) status as a good-delivery 
refiner. This guarantees depositing customers and 
the buyers of the gold and silver products produced 
that these feedstocks are always responsibly sourced 
(see our policy on the facing page). In this sector, 
our integrity and that of the material we process 
is important as it ensures that our products can be 
traded over the counter. 

Because of our unwavering commitment to 
Responsible Gold and Silver practices, we are able to 
produce “Certified Gold and Silver”, an undertaking 
that our gold received is mined via well established 
and acceptable practice and does not contain recycled 
material from untraceable sources. In providing a full 
chain of custody, from deposit to product, we are able 
to assert that all streams of gold are RandPure. 

Every year our adherence to LBMA Responsible Gold 
and Silver Guidance and the OECD Due Diligence 
Guidance for Responsible Supply Chains of Minerals 
from Conflict-Affected and High Risk Areas is 
independently audited. In this regard 2019 was 
no exception – apart from the fact that this year’s 
assurance was undertaken with a more rigorous 
“reasonable assurance” approach than the “limited 
assurance” standard of previous years.

The 2019 independent assurance audit was, as in 
the past, undertaken by auditors PwC and assessed 
our compliance with the LBMA’s Responsible Gold 
Guidance version 8 and Responsible Silver Guidance 
version 1. As has traditionally been the case, the 
assurance found no instances of high-risk or medium-
risk or zero-tolerance non-compliance and only two- 
instances of minor/low-risk non-compliance. 

Strategic differentiator

Responsible sourcing is not just about Rand Refinery’s 
corporate reputation and standing with existing 
customers; it is, in a very real sense, a key strategic 
differentiator. 

Governments across Africa and elsewhere are 
increasingly aware of the importance of complying with 
internationally recognised standards and protocols. 
Not the least of the benefits of Responsible Gold is 
that authorities in the various gold-producing regions 
are much more likely to receive their rightful dues in 
terms of royalties while Responsible Gold  and Silver 
minimises the likelihood of unregulated, often criminal, 
black-market activities. Additional important benefits 
of working with a reputable, accredited refiner include 
greater certainty that sampling, weighing and assaying 
are carried out to the highest standards. 

Also, within the international jewellery value chain, 
dealers and consumers are becoming much more 
interested in where and how their gold was sourced – 
and that it is free from morally questionable practices. 
While Responsible Gold and Silver necessarily entails 
additional administration, this burden does not have 
to be onerous. This is particularly so when this work 
is undertaken by an experienced Responsible Gold 
and Silver practitioner such as Rand Refinery – which 
undertakes most of the due diligence and reporting.

An element of our new strategy is assisting govern-
ments,  particularly in West Africa and, in future, 
other African states to establish processes and 
methodologies for supporting artisanal mining which 
will lead to lower value destruction and material being 
acceptable at LBMA accredited refiners. While in no 
way impinging on our non-negotiable commitments to 
Responsible Gold. Each year, Rand Refinery declines 
offered material the majority of this material being 
scrap or refined scrap from non-LBMA refiners where 
such volumes raise questions about its provenance.

Source: PwC 2019 Rand Refinery Responsible Gold assurance report
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Our Responsible Gold and Silver policy

Rand Refinery is opposed to activities which directly 
or indirectly finance or, benefit armed conflict and 
contribute towards abuse of human rights or money 
laundering. The company is also committed to 
sourcing mined gold from operations which conform to 
internationally accepted environmental practices.

Consequently, Rand Refinery commits to refraining 
from knowingly sourcing gold and silver-bearing 
material from regions and operations which contribute 
to the financing of conflict or the degradation of the 
environment, and further commits itself to comply with 
relevant United Nations sanctions, recommendations 
and protocols from other appropriate supra-national 
bodies in this regard.

In the event that gold- or silver-bearing material is 
sourced from conflict-affected and high-risk areas, 
Rand Refinery will neither tolerate nor by any means 
profit from, contribute to, assist with or facilitate any 
forms of inhuman treatment, any form of forced labour, 
use of child labour, gross human rights violations, war 
crimes or other crimes against humanity.

Rand Refinery will not tolerate any direct or indirect 
support to non-state armed groups through the 
extraction, transport, trade, logistical assistance, 
handling or export of gold- and silver-bearing material 
by such groups or their affiliates. Rand Refinery will 
apply a robust Know Your Customer (KYC) policy in 
order to identify upstream suppliers where dealing 
with such suppliers would be in contravention of this 
policy, would represent money laundering or other 
related criminal activity. Rand Refinery will not engage 
with suppliers identified in this way and will not accept 
refining or smelting deposits from such suppliers. 

Our accreditations

• London Bullion Market Association 
 (LBMA) – since 1921
• New York Commodities Exchange 
 (COMEX) – since 1974
• Tokyo Commodities Exchange (TOCOM)
• London Good Delivery silver bars to the 
 London Metal Exchange (LME)
• Shanghai Gold Exchange 
• Global Precious Metal Code 
 (LBMA) – since 2017

RAND REFINERY is one of only five 
referees recognised by the LBMA, to assist 
the association in maintaining the good 
delivery system and its standards, as a 
referee. 

RAND REFINERY is globally 
recognised as: 
• Setting the highest industry standards as a   
 leading benchmark refinery; the only one,   
 in the southern hemisphere.
• Upholding the utmost integrity and ethics for 
 almost a century.
• Being undisputedly trustworthy and inspiring  
 confidence in the market.
• Providing our long-standing customers with   
 true peace of mind.
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HOW WE ARE CREATING VALUE 
FOR OUR STAKEHOLDERS

CUSTOMERS

Their interests: product quality and 
availability, smelting and refining 
consistency and reliability

As a refiner, our customer base is quite unlike that 
of most manufacturing or processing companies. 
We have depositing customers who own the gold-
bearing material delivered to us.

Metal is smelted and refined and sold or swapped into 
the bullion market on our customers’ behalf. Indirectly, 
therefore, we have relationships with our customers: 
bullion banks, traders, merchants and dealers. 

For all of these customers our integrity and 
commitment to Responsible Gold is of the utmost 
importance. They also expect us to produce gold 
and silver products, whether these be bars, blanks or 
other value-added products to promised standards 
and precise metal content. 

In 2019 our executives engaged with several gold- 
and silver-buying markets on developing and growing 
international and African markets. 

Reject rates remains the leading indicator in managing 
product quality. Quality checks and investigations 
remain a top priority at Rand Refinery. Attention 
to detail has ensured that the rejection rate for 
Krugerrand coins has been reduced to zero. Quality 
parameters continue to be carefully monitored.

SHAREHOLDERS

Their interests: Responsible Gold and Silver, 
processing quality, profitability

Rand Refinery is owned by a small number of 
shareholders, all of whom have (non-independent) 
representation on our board. These directors ensure 
that Rand Refinery delivers on its environmental, social 
and governance obligations.
 
Shareholders – and providers of debt finance – have 
a keen interest in the business’s sustainability and, 
as such, strategic considerations are regularly and 
candidly shared with them. In 2019 the board decided 
not to pay dividends but did redeem preference shares 
to the value of R500 million.

Shareholders are also invested in Rand Refinery’s 
adherence to Responsible Gold best practice. In 2019 
shareholders endorsed an increased investment in our 
execution against these responsibilities, in line with 
the LBMA Guidelines version 7 and in preparation for 
version 8.

SHAREHOLDER & CAPITAL 
PROVIDERS

SHAREHOLDER & CAPITAL 
PROVIDERS
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CUSTOMERS

OUR STAKEHOLDER CIRCLE

As our management and board embark on a new, more integrated strategy to create 
sustainable value, we increasingly place all stakeholders and their legitimate interests in 
our business at the heart of policy formulation and execution. 

Here we identify key stakeholder groups, their interests and how our strategy seeks to 
address those interests and expectations.

The “stakeholder circle” on the right, places our 
customers at the centre of our focus. At Rand 
Refinery we identify stakeholders as those who 
are affected, and have an effect on, our business 
model and value-creation processes. 
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HOW WE ARE CREATING VALUE 
FOR OUR STAKEHOLDERS

GOVERNMENT

Their interests: employment and safety, 
beneficiation, competition

The state and its organs take a keen interest in Rand 
Refinery. Not the least of the reasons for this interest 
relates to the company’s importance in refining, locally, 
mined gold and silver, and Rand Refinery’s ability to 
beneficiate precious metals. Also, the authorities 
appreciate our potential to sustain jobs and earn 
foreign exchange, including our ability to process 
materials from non-South African sources.

Through the SA Mint, with the South African Reserve 
Bank, Rand Refinery is a shareholder in Prestige 
Bullion, which markets value-adding gold and            
silver coins.
 
In 2019 export sales of value-added products  
(excluding Krugerrands) generated export revenue of 
R31 million (2018 R34 million) – an important source of 
social value creation.

EMPLOYEES AND CONTRACTORS

Their interests: safety, job security, fair 
remuneration, career advancement

By year end the business had exceeded 3.9 million 
injury-free hours. Most significantly, we achieved 
another 12 months without a lost time injury (LTI).

In addition to the above, the incidence of medical 
treatable injuries reduced by 79% over 2018 and Belief 
in Safety, a bespoke programme designed to change 
safety behaviour, confirmed that safety attitudes were 
becoming ingrained in the workforce. For the third 
consecutive year there were no incidents requiring 
reporting to the Department of Labour (reportable 
injuries). In 2019 a transition from OHSAS BS 18001: 
2007 to ISO 45001: 2018 was accomplished. 

We actively monitored first-aid cases because we 
believe that the conditions and behaviours behind 
such occurrences have the potential to cause much 
more serious injury. This approach is indicative of 
the seriousness with which we take maintaining a 
pervasive, “always-on” safety culture.

Also encouraging was the occurrence of medical 
treatable cases, which fell from 19 in 2018 to just five. 
Risks of exposure to chlorine, lead and radiation were 
all well managed and there were no reported incidents. 

In 2019 training expenditure exceeded budget by 
approximately 30% with a total actual spent amount of
R3 497 000. This spend helps in developing a 
sustainable talent line, including the development of 
artisanal skills. 

5/6

Five-year safety performance

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Lost time injuries (LTIs)

Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate

All injuries on duty (number)
 
 First Aid Cases (FACs)

 Medical Treatable Injuries (MTIs)
 
Reportable incidents

3

1.33

36

1

35

3

0

0

20

0

20

1

1

0.11

25

4

21

0

0

0

20

6

14

0

0

0

25

22

3

0

In 2018, for skills 
development, the 
company achieved just 
5.98 points (out of a 
possible 20). In 2019, 
Rand Refinery achieved 
a (self-assessed) 
13.06 points

Skills development in 2019

African male  429
African female 90
Coloured male 23
Coloured female 5
Indian male 9
Indian female 0
White male 48
White female 15 

Total training days 316

of the 2016/17 apprenticeship intake 
absorbed into the business. 
(With the sixth doing trade test preparations at 
year end)
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REGULATORS

Their interests: employment and safety, 
beneficiation, competition

We are a highly regulated business. There is ongoing 
communication with domestic regulators, the South 
African Reserve Bank, South African Revenue 
Services and the South African Diamonds and 
Precious Metals Regulator, as well as international 
bodies such as the LBMA.

Our adherence to the best internationally accepted 
and mandated practices as well as regular reporting 
and compliance ensured that we consistently met 
their expectations.

SOCIETY

Their interests: environmental, supplier      
opportunities, enterprise, social and supplier 
development

Our business model has definite social impacts, 
our employment supporting some 5 000 individuals 
including employees and contractors’ dependents. 
On top of this, our supply chain supports hundreds 
more jobs with an estimated economy-wide impact of 
R252 million annually. 

In 2019 our spend on “corporate conscience” 
stood at R2.6 million – significantly up on a targeted
R2.1 million. We believe that we can have a notable 
impact on socio-economic development and job 
creation by encouraging beneficiation of our precious 
metals. The well-established Gold Zone, on our 
Germiston property, is home to the Jewellery Village 
which aims to create a conducive environment for 
skills development, especially jewellery design and 
manufacturing. Premises are made available for 
training purposes, manufacturing and to encourage 
young designers. This year nine enterprises housed 
in the Jewellery Village accounted for 55 full-time 
jobs. The Intsika project trained some 400 people in 
jewellery-making skills in the year.

Extending our social impact, we offered full-time one-
year internships to 28 unemployed young, historically 
disadvantaged South Africans under the YES4Youth 
programme. These individuals were employed 
throughout the organisation and our supply chain, 
gaining invaluable, potentially life-changing, experience. 
The company also supported the training of 20 disabled 
youths, to complete their National Certificate: Jewellery 
Manufacturing 65209 NQF level 3.

Our consumption of natural capital and our 
environmental outputs have important impacts on 
society, including our fence-line communities. (In the 
year reviewed we closely involved ourselves in local 

environmental issues, Rand Refinery chairing the
Ekurhuleni Air Quality Forum).  For the sixth consecutive 
year, our operations had no reportable environmental 
incidents. All conditions of our atmospheric emissions 
licence were complied with while waste disposal was 
effectively managed. 

Capital expenditure on controlling and reducing 
our emissions in the year amounted to R4.7 million, 
including R1.5 million on an additional smelter air-
pollution scrubber still to be spent.

We compete with other economic players for scarce 
resources including water, energy and consumables. 
Rand Refinery is a responsible user of such finite 
resources, in  2019 achieving reductions in both water 
intake and energy consumption.

Water consumption year on year 
140000

120000

100000

80000

60000

40000

20000

0

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Energy consumption year on year 

40

35

30

25

20

15

10

5

0

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

(Water consumption declined by 2 500m3 in 2019, 
largely on the back of lower atomised copper generation.)

(Energy consumption was lower, largely as a result of 
operational developments rather than energy-efficiency 
achievements.)
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Supplier development

Enterprise development 

Socio-economic development

INITIATIVE CONTRIBUTION AMOUNT B-BBEE recognised spend 

Early payment programme

Interest-free loans

Supplier training programme

PPE benefit

East Rand Industrial Expo 2019 

Intsika 

TOTAL 

Ekurhuleni Jewellery Project donation

Thuthuka

EJP time spent

Others

TOTAL 

Jewellery Village – notional rent 

R 199 212

R 250 000

R 181 450

R 222 540

R 75 000

R 421 850 

R 1 350 053

R 680 000

R 113 392

R 183 451

R 41 000

R 1 017 272

R 1 029 972

R 199 212

R 175 000

R 181 450

R 222 540

R 75 000 

R 295 295

R1 148 498 

R 680 000

R 113 392

R146 760

R 41 000

R 980 581

R 720 980

In 2018 Rand Refinery recorded a Level 8 
(non-compliant) contributor status. This fact 
represented a threat to our mining licence 
and to several key business relationships. 
This year, at the direction of the board, 
management took decisive action to improve 
the company’s B-BBEE compliance. This took 
several forms, such that, by the year end, a 
self-assessed Level 4 had been achieved.

IMPROVING OUR B-BBEE PERFORMANCE

Procurement
(Percent of all procurement)

Preferential procurement points achieved: 
26.46 points (2018: 24.86 points)

From qualifying small enterprises

From exempted micro enterprises

14.75%

20.07%

15.79%

26.16%

2019

2019

2018

2018

From 51% black-owned suppliers

From 30% black women-owned suppliers

37.82%

21.50%

36.82%

13.35%

2019

2019

2018

2018

Highlights of our significantly improved 
B-BBEE performance in 2019 include:
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN

Readers will note that our 2019 integrated annual 
report represents a step forward in how we report 
to stakeholders. As such, it aims to present a candid, 
balanced overview on how our business model 
and strategy seek to create value for shareholders, 
employees, lenders, suppliers, governments, 
economies and society, and has been compiled 
in accordance with the International Integrated 
Reporting <IR> Framework. 

The board and I are acutely aware of the 
responsibilities borne by the Company. Rand 
Refinery is responsible for adding value to the 
precious metals it refines and beneficiates and it 
is responsible for ensuring that maximum value is 
derived from these endowments and that export 
earnings derived benefit the African continent. 

Responsible, integrated value creation

We are also responsible for ensuring – beyond any 
doubt – that the inputs we process are without 
moral blemish, that they have been responsibly 
mined and delivered and in no way negatively 
impact on human rights or money laundering.  We 
take the responsibilities set out by the LBMA, OECD 
and Dodd-Frank extremely seriously. 

We believe that Rand Refinery, with its refining 
excellence and robust ethical standards in the 
precious metal industry, is a positive force for good 
in this industry. Increasingly, we are a positive force 
for good, not only for South Africans but for many 
thousands of our fellow Africans, outside the borders 
of the country in which we are headquartered.

Foremost among our responsibilities is that of 
keeping our people safe and healthy. On page 
10 you will read about how our health and safety 
initiatives, policies and evolving safety culture 
have achieved tremendous results. Workplace 
safety remains a key priority. Our commitment to 
promote the health and safety of our employees 
and contractors is embedded in our cultural values 
as a company. It is up to all of us to ensure that we 
never falter in our safety, health and environment 
resolve; in this regard the board will continue to 
demand the highest standards. 

Strategy for sustainability

Ensuring our company’s ability to continue creating 
financial and, most importantly, human and social 
value well into the future demanded a great deal 
of management and board attention in the year 
reviewed. At the annual strategy meeting the board 
engaged robustly with management to ensure that 
the company is sustainable in the longer term as 
we face the challenge of diminishing South African 
feedstock into the smelter and refinery operations. 
The chief executive’s message to directors spells 
out several sustaining strategic objectives and 

growth focus areas which management will act on 
over the short to medium term. 

It is worth mentioning here that the actions taken 
by management over the past few years have 
successfully strengthened Rand Refinery’s balance 
sheet and equity position. Overall, the company’s 
net asset value increased by 46% prior to the 
preference share redemption when compared to 
2018. 

One important measure of our success in creating 
equitable social value was reflected in the 
improvement in our B-BBEE score, from Level 8 to 
Level 4  and the work carried out during 2019 around 
enterprise development which involved assisting six 
black-owned SMME companies  including  female 
owned companies to further develop their business 
through structured financial support. 

Outlook and appreciation

South Africa’s poor economic outlook remains 
a concern and uncertainty continues around the 
country’s risk rating. 

Increasingly, our prospects lie in meeting the needs 
and expectations of multiple stakeholders, wherever 
they may be. On this journey we will do our utmost 
to address multiple risks and opportunities, placing 
the highest value on the interests of multiple 
stakeholders across the continent.

Rand Refinery will soon turn 100 years old. It is a 
priceless asset for South Africa and for Africa. As 
a leadership team, in 2020 we commit ourselves to 
doing our bit to ensure that our company’s worth 
will remain undiminished for another century on the 
continent, while continuing to drive value for all our 
stakeholders. 

During 2019, the board welcomed Mr Moses 
Madondo as a non-executive director, replacing 
Mr Theo Qabaka who resigned from the board 
after his retirement from AngloGold Ashanti on 
31 December 2018. We thank Theo for his sterling 
service. Mark Burrell, previously an alternate, 
replaced Charles Symons as a non-executive 
director, following the latter’s retirement from 
DRDGold on 31 December 2018. Charles similarly 
rendered tremendous service to Rand Refinery. 
Mpho Mashatola was appointed Mark Burrell’s 
alternate director.

We remain indebted to our shareholders for their 
unwavering support. I also salute the contributions 
of my fellow non-executive directors, our Chief 
Executive, his executive team and all of the excellent 
people working so hard at Rand Refinery.

Rams Ramashia
Chairman 
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Overview
The year under review  demonstrated management’s 
continued efforts in delivering on strategic and 
operational priorities, addressing business risks and 
sustainability whilst balancing varied stakeholder 
requirements. It was also a year of noticeable 
success on many levels notwithstanding some of 
the operational and commercial challenges faced 
one of the business units as discussed later. The 
company’s overall financial position continued 
to be strengthened during 2019, displaying 
substantial year-on-year growth over the past 
three consecutive years. The improved financial 
performance and resultant strengthening of an 
historically weak balance sheet is primarily driven by 
the continued demand for Krugerrand production 
and sales, the improved efficiencies of the Refinery 
and our restructured approach and alignment 
of our treasury function from pure transaction to 
value addition. 

Our strategic path towards creating value for the 
African continent is well defined and articulated in 
our strategic initiatives. I am pleased by the overall 
focus we have within the business and particularly 
encouraged by the solid progress being made in 
primarily addressing business risks, sustainability 
and future growth. As we progress, our success 
depends on a rigorous approach to managing 
the varied and critical risks across an extremely 
complex value chain while demonstrating value 
creation for multifaceted stakeholders across the 
African continent and other geographies.

One of the successes in which we take the greatest 
pride is our safety, health and environmental 
performance. Our commitments and journey with 
regard to achieving world class safety, continued 
in 2019. At the end of the year, we marked 844 
consecutive days without a lost time injury, 
culminating in over 3.9 million LTI free hours 
worked which is a milestone for the Company. The 
Smelter has set a record of 11 years LTI free. This 
is impressive, particularly for an operation of this 
nature which is unique in some respects and has the 
inherent risks of other smelters across the globe. 

The safety of our employees, contractors and 
visitors remain pivotal to all that we do at Rand 
Refinery as it is unacceptable for any employee, 
contractor or visitor to be injured or have their 
health affected as a consequence of our operation. 
We are committed to unconditionally maintaining a 
safe and healthy work environment. We have been 
busy with a range of safety initiatives with particular 
emphasis on a bespoke safety culture, values and 
behaviours programme as well as contractor safety 
upskilling programmes.

I join the chairman in congratulating all on an 
excellent safety performance. But as much as we 
celebrate these achievements, we must redouble 

our efforts to remain vigilant. Complacency is the 
enemy of workplace safety, health and environment. 

The Company’s ability to continue creating 
financial value helps to sustain employment impact 
which supports approximately 5 000 individuals 
including employee and contractor dependents. 
The creation of human and social value goes far 
beyond the creation of direct jobs as most of our 
supply-chain spend in excess of R250 million flows 
into the local economy. 

Extending our social impact, we offered full-time 
one-year internships to 28 unemployed young, 
historically disadvantaged South Africans under 
the YES4Youth programme. These individuals 
were employed throughout the organisation and 
our supply chain, gaining invaluable experience 
which will allow them to enter into the job market. 
The company also currently supports the training 
of 20 disabled youth, to complete their National 
Certificate: Jewellery Manufacturing  NQF level 3.

Markets 

Rand Refinery’s revenue is dependent on volumes 
of value-added products sold at premium and 
the volumes of gold refined, thus contributing to 
retentions which make up a substantial part of the 
revenue base. 

International markets for value-added products 
other than domestic Krugerrands were decidedly 
mixed in the year reviewed. In the key Indian 
market, cyclical jewellery demand was negatively 
impacted by an increase in sales tax on gold and 
a steep gold price which negatively affected 
jewellery consumption amid concerns about 
an economic slowdown. In China, demand was 
affected by slowing economic growth, the threat of 
international “trade wars” and rising personal debt 
and a sharp rise in gold prices along with ongoing 
structural change shifting to smaller and lighter 
jewellery designs.European sales remain soft for 
gold products, with the largest fall being in a Brexit-
hit UK market. 

Consumption of kilobars in the electronics sector 
continued to weaken year on year as the US-
China trade war hit both retail sales of consumer 
electronics products and inventory levels 
throughout the supply chain. As a result, global 
offtake fell marginally in 2019, with another small 
dip projected for 2020. 

The overwhelming majority of the gold- and silver-
bearing inputs received by Rand Refinery come 
from South African and other African depositors, 
in particular from our shareholders’ mines. In 2019 
the volume of doré supplied to our refinery reduced 
from South African mines largely as due to the 
steady decline in mine output and industrial action 
at some mines.  International deposit declines 
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were mainly from Zimbabwe due to that country’s 
continued economic challenges. 

Our Smelter operations were some one-third down 
on volumes budgeted and management made 
considerable efforts to increase flows of smelter 
feedstock from North America, albeit at marginal 
commercial terms. The declining domestic mine 
production is our business’s new reality affecting 
both the Refinery and Smelter, one which will 
persist into the future. This new reality required 
the implementation of a decisive and effective step 
change to remain competitive. These are ongoing 
but I have no doubt that we achieved a measure of 
success in setting Rand Refinery on a sustainable 
new strategic course.

Financial 

At R615 million, our consolidated profit after tax 
was almost 30% up on that of the preceding year; 
this after delivering growth of 35% in 2018. Our 
pleasing result this year was built on the continued 
strong local demand for Krugerrand and Rand 
Refinery’s ability to step up to record production 
levels demanded by Prestige Bullion. Additionally 
we achieved a  reasonable operating performance 
despite the  challenges in the smelter business unit 
which necessitated an impairment of R49 million.

Total revenue decreased by 21% when compared 
to the prior year mostly as a result of a decline 
in domestic mining, and consequently lower 
throughput volumes of the various smelter-type 
materials. Following several management focussed 
actions, overall costs excluding provisions remained 
flat for the past three consecutive years. 

Operating profit fell by more than three-quarters in 
2019 – from R135 million to R30 million. Excluding 
the losses incurred by our Smelter operations, 
Rand Refinery’s operational result would have been 
substantially better as the Refinery business unit and 
Treasury’s contribution exceeded expectations. Our 
profit from associates, at R536 million (essentially 
our holding in Prestige Bullion), was up 56% on that 
of the previous year.

Our strengthened balance sheet demonstrates a 
solid financial performance over the past few years 
and management’s focus on critical performance 
metrics to deliver on its business philosophy of 
self-sufficiency and sustainability. Net assets 
increased 27% to R1 635 million resulting in a strong 
cash position at year end.  The board was able to 
approve the redemption of preference shares to the 
value of R500 million, approximately 80% higher 
than the R275 million redeemed at the end of the 
2018 financial year. 

Operational

The decline  in contractual revenue was mainly 
attributable to the  declining material received as 
a result of industrial action, corporate activity and 
other factors affecting our South African depositors, 
mainly shareholders. This phenomenon was only 
partially offset by the excellent performance  in the 
Refinery operations due to improved efficiencies. 

Consequently, the Refinery business unit enjoyed 
an exceptional year, notwithstanding the fact that 
deposits were almost a quarter down on those of 
2018. Most refinery key performance indicators 
were good, or very good. These included gold first-
pass and electro-gold efficiencies, which stood at 
world-class benchmarks at year end.

Throughout the year, the Smelter came under 
considerable pressure with operational difficulties 
and stoppages and volumes being significantly 
down on historical levels. Concerted efforts to 
source material from other geographies started 
to flow into the country and will require further 
management attention to address sustainability and 
commercial attractiveness. Our operating expenses 
for the Smelter reduced year on year largely due 
to reduced employment costs and actions taken to 
restructure operations.

Strategic outlook 

Underpinning every aspect of our strategy is our 
commitment to Responsible Sourcing and ethical 
practices along the entire value chain. Much of 
this onerous obligation placed on Rand Refinery is 
articulated in the Chairman’s message and further 
details contained in this report. In line with the 
OECD requirements, the LBMA Responsible Gold 
and Silver Guidance for Good Delivery Refiners 
version 8 places additional responsibility on the 
part of LBMA refiners in terms of environmental 
and social due diligence required in the responsible 
sourcing of gold. These additional requirements 
read in conjunction with the World Gold Council 
Mining Principles, were rolled out during 2019. 

At this moment in time, Rand Refinery derives 
much of its profitability from its share of profits 
from Prestige Bullion – and our shareholding in this 
associate is set to drop from 2022. Rand Refinery is 
in a unique position with the  ability to beneficiate 
South Africa’s gold and silver for the good of 
society and the economy. The future of coin blanks 
is central to Rand Refinery’s value-added products 
strategy which may include silver blanks.  
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In 2019 we commenced with our investments of 
approximately R45 million in expanding our capacity 
to debottleneck our blank capacity production 
and building flexibility, to start beneficiating silver 
refined at our operation into blanks, to be minted 
at SA Mint. 

The performance of our Smelter operation will 
continue to be a top leadership concern for some 
time to come. How we balance the interests of 
our shareholders and employees with our delivery 
of reasonable financial returns in this respect is 
a strategic priority. In the interim, we continue 
to de-risk the business through an accelerated 
programme on the treatment of aged intermediate 
materials. In exploring promising avenues for right-
sizing our smelter operations, we believe it will be 
appropriate, and indeed necessary, to revisit certain 
commercial arrangements. 

In 2019 our Refinery output reduced and 
management efforts in 2020 will focus on 
commercially attractive international sourcing with 
the utmost standards of due diligence. In parallel 
we will commence implementation of necessary 
actions to right size the Refinery for the future. 

We are also working with certain African 
governments, producers and regulators on 
developing promising ways in which we can help 
them to fulfil their social obligations. 

Between 2016 and today the company’s strategy 
has been focused, on sustaining operations 
and getting back to basics (a focus which has 
consistently created value for shareholders 
and other stakeholders). From 2019 the Board-
approved strategic plan prioritises the sustainable 
transformation of our business model and our value 
creation, with emphasis on growth. Our strategy 
is intrinsically concerned with risk mitigation – in 
particular through the exploitation of opportunities 
and in exercising greater control over our risks and 
our own destiny. 

At the time of writing, the outlook for worldwide 
gold demand was clouded by several key 
uncertainties. These included doubts about the 
health of the world’s economies, especially those 
of China and India, and concerns over trade wars 
and gold prices. Whereas the amounts of gold 
bought by banks will likely pick up, we derive very 
little premium value from such sales and demand 
for jewellery and industrial consumption is unclear. 

Appreciation

In closing, I most sincerely thank our chairman, 
board and shareholders for their unwavering 
support and for their interest and input into our 
strategic evolution. 

To the men and women at Rand Refinery, my 
heartfelt appreciation for a job that continues to be 
exceptionally well done, safely.

Praveen Baijnath
Chief Executive Officer
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OUR RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES

After 99 years of sustained success in delivering real value for South Africa and for multiple 
stakeholders, there can no longer be any business as usual for Rand Refinery.

It is incumbent on Rand Refinery’s leadership to 
ensure that we are positioned to effectively and 
dynamically address and mitigate the profound risks 
these changes entail, and, wherever possible, to turn 
these risks into opportunities. 

Here we focus largely on the strategic risks to our 
business’s sustainability. 

How we quantify risks, both in terms of severity of 
impact and likelihood, and respond to them will have 
major implications for levels of capital investment 
required. In this sense, our risk appetite is largely about 
how much appetite we have for the costs of mitigating 
risks and in developing new opportunities. 

Throughout the year the board and the Audit and Risk 
and Social and Ethics committees closely considered 
our most strategic risks. Post-year end the board 
engaged with this updated risk “heat map”.

OUR OPPORTUNITIES

In 2019 Rand Refinery faced numerous new 
and emerging challenges from its external 
environment.

RISK GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT 

Our business activities in the year were managed 
within our board-approved risk policy, risk appetite 
and tolerance levels. Risk targets and thresholds are 
based on explicit key financial, compliance, brand and 
reputation, safety and environmental factors.

The board is ultimately accountable for risk 
management, utilising the Audit and Risk Committee

to provide assurance on the effectiveness of the risk 
management process. Execution of the risk strategy 
lies with the Executive Committee (Exco) which, in turn, 
authorises the Risk Management Committee (chaired 
by the CEO) to manage and identify risks.

Exco assigns key risks to specific risk owners who are 
responsible for managing such risks while relevant Exco 
members are also accountable for risks within their 
functional areas. On a quarterly basis, the board, Social 
and Ethics and Audit and Risk committees monitor and 
determine major operational risks. 

Rand Refinery’s risk management framework is based 
on the ISO 31000 standard – whose application was 
further refined in 2019. The objective of our enterprise 
risk management (ERM) process is to enhance our 
ability to manage uncertainties faced by operations, 
and to exploit opportunities.

The risk management framework is continuously 
enhanced to improve processes and to move toward 
a more mature framework. This is achieved through 
the establishment of performance goals, performance 
measurements and regular reviews.

The integrated Risk Management Plan for 2019 
identified top operational risks with improvements 
to our qualitative and quantitative measurements. 
Operational risks were linked to the Enterprise Risk 
profile and strategic objectives. In addition, such risks 
are escalated to the Exco for monitoring.

Considerable progress was made in 2019 on preparing 
our SHEQ monitoring for use of the IsoMetrix platform, 
to record incidents with a view to improving prevention. 

COMBINED ASSURANCE

A combined assurance process, supported by the risk 
management system, has been implemented. The 
combined assurance process consists of three lines 
of defence:

• First line: accountable and responsible for the 
 management of risk and process performance, 
 implementing corrective actions to address process 
 and control deficiencies (asset risk management and 
 weekly production meetings)

• Second line: consists of the Business Management,
 Executive and Audit and Risk committees and board

• Third line: internal audit, external regulators’ reviews, 
 technical external audit, and forensic investigations.

In 2020 a key focus will be on further elevating risk 
management to operate at the strategic level and to 
dynamically inform strategic decision-making. 

VALUE CREATION

SELF-SUSTAIN

• Achieve a competitive, sustainable cost base
• Grow sourcing feedstock
• Develop global market “pull” strategy
• Extend VAP portfolio
• Create strategic joint ventures
• Create demand for assaying/measurement 
   services
• Expand key banking relationships to improve 
   VAP uptake
• Extend Prestige Bullion life of agreement

• Improve asset capability
• Achieve meaningful business transformation
• Eliminate non-core activities
• Optimise gold work in progress
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OUR RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES

Rand Refinery strategic risk heat map 2019/2020

Catastrophic >250

(R million)

Slight Likely Highly likely 
Expected

Expected

Critical 50 - 250

Significant 10 - 50

Moderate 0 - 10

PROBABILITY OF OCCURRENCE

8

5 2

1

7 4

3

9 10

6

KEY RISKS Mitigating measures

Smelter – significant reduction in feedstock, grade and 
volumes

Refinery – reduction in feedstock, grades and volumes

Smelter process inefficiencies

Labour instability as a result of a new trade union 
wanting organisational rights, unresolved issues with 
the current union, disproportionate wage demands

Internal theft, pilferage of precious metals and collusion 
between staff members

Potential non-compliance with SADPMR requirements 
in terms of legislative changes direct beneficial 
ownership in Rand Refinery and new mining charter 
(threat to input import and final product export)

Loss of critical skills

Refinery and fabrication process inefficiencies

Incorrect evaluation and accounting of incoming 
material and ITM (weighing, sampling and assaying)

New gaps identified in sampling of materials, bias, 
scatter and preparation including low-grade material, 
deteriorating quality of SA feedstock

• Pursuing customers to enter into long-term    
 agreements, particularly in the international markets
• Contract discussions with international refiners for 
 additional high-grade sweeps
• Various cost reduction initiatives 

• Cost-reduction initiative to reduce operating costs and 
 overtime
• Bid for new gold opportunities on tender
• FY2020 budget at 227 tons

• Review assay settlement information
• Rigorous Smelter metals management and accounting

• Continuous engagement with unions 

• Appointment of an investigator working to increase 
 intelligence network 
• Increased capital investment including surveillance in 
 “blind spots”

• Legal advice on flow-through basis of ownership
• Annual renewal of import and export licences
• Precious metal refining licence in place to May 2039 

• Process mapping of skills
• Personnel development plans
• Multi-skilling and central information storage

 • Increase in the silver efficiency in the Refinery
• Improved recovery from sweeps treatment
• Improved first pass efficiency through primary 
 processes

• Material of WAM vs MCF tracking
• Continuous review of sampling protocols
• SAP system changes for WAM

• Continuous review of sampling protocol
• Customer samples being prepared and milled finer
• Settlement with the empire

8

5

2

1

7

4

3

9

10

6
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Rand Refinery is led by a Board of nine directors under the leadership of an independent, non-executive 
Chairman. Details of the Board are set out in the table below:

DIRECTOR PROFILES: 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Chief Executive
P Baijnath

Chief Financial Officer
D Subramanian 

CHAIRMAN

Adv R Ramashia*

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

F Daniels*
M Burrell
PH Henning
M Madondo 
(appointed 10/01/2019)

HE Mashego
KC Ramon

ALTERNATE DIRECTORS
I Kramer 
(alternate to C Ramon)

M Mashatola 
(appointed 11/02/2019 as an alternate to M Burrell)

H Perry 
(alternate to H Mashego)

*Indicates independent directors

INDEPENDENT CHAIRMAN

Rams Ramashia (62) BJuris, LLB, LLM

Before 1994 Rams held senior positions in various international and domestic non-governmental  
organisations, positions he used as a platform for anti-apartheid activism, culminating in his election 
as founding president of the South African National NGO Coalition (SANGOCO). He was subsequently 
appointed deputy director-general of the national Department of Labour and, later, director-general.

Prior to joining government, Rams served on then Deputy President Thabo Mbeki’s Advisory Committee on 
the National Development Agency (NDA) as head of its legal task team.

In 2004 Rams was appointed regional president of BP Africa and executive chairman of the board of BP 
Southern Africa. In 2011 he became non-executive chairman of BP Southern Africa. Rams is a practising 
advocate of the High Court.

He is a non-executive director of AECI, Anglo-American South Africa and the Mineworkers Investment 
Company.

Rams also serves as a member of the NDA Ethics Board and is a member of the Human Resource 
Development Council.

Rams was appointed the independent chairman of the Board of Rand Refinery in October 2010.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Praveen Baijnath  (55) ChemEng, MSAIChe, MBA, PMD

Praveen is a chemical engineer with 29 years’ experience in minerals beneficiation and the chemical process 
industry. He attended UCT’s Graduate School of Business’s Programme for Management Development 
(PMD) in 1995 and in 2000 was awarded an MBA, with distinction, by the University of Wales.

Praveen was appointed CEO of Rand Refinery on 1 June 2015. He was previously (2009-2015) Group CEO 
of Delta EMD and remains on its board as a non-independent, non-executive director. He also served as 
CEO of Gold Reef Specialty Chemicals as well as being a director on the operational board of Frame 
Textile Group. Other previous roles spanned 20 years with Huntsman Corporation in process and chemical 
engineering, plant management and various executive roles.

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Dean Subramanian  (46) BCom, Hons Acc, CA (SA)

Dean is a CA with extensive CFO and financial executive experience.

Before joining Rand Refinery, he served as CFO of ArcelorMittal South Africa, sub-Saharan Africa’s largest 
steel producer, and, before that, as finance director at Aveng Steel. Dean worked in the construction 
and manufacturing divisions of Aveng. Prior to that, he held several positions in the banking, airline and 
property industries listed on the JSE. Dean has extensive experience in Africa and served his articles at EY 
in Johannesburg and was seconded by EY to New York.

Dean joined Rand Refinery as CFO on 1 August 2018. 

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Fatima Daniels  (59) BSc, CA (SA)

After spending several years in the auditing profession, Fatima lectured in financial accounting before 
spending over a decade in various corporate positions. She currently serves on several boards.

Fatima previously served on the boards of Telkom, Metropolitan, Woolworths, the South African Reserve 
Bank, SA Mint, SA Banknote and Impala Platinum Holdings. She is currently a director of several MTN Group 
subsidiaries, Clicks Group, Momentum Metropolitan Holdings, Tongaat Hulett, AfriSam Holdings and JSE Ltd.

Fatima was appointed a non-executive director of Rand Refinery in June 2012.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mark Burrell (57) BCom (Acct), MDP (Mining Management) 

Mark joined DRDGOLD in 2004 to assist with the evaluation of its ERPM operation, thereafter transferring 
to Blyvooruitzicht Gold Mining Company as financial manager. In 2012, Mark was appointed as financial 
director of DRDGOLD’s Ergo Mining. He is a director of ERPM, Crown Consolidated Gold Recoveries, Ergo 
Business Development Academy and Ergo Mining.

Mark was appointed as a non-executive director of Rand Refinery in January 2019 after the resignation of 
Charles Symons. Mark was previously the alternate to Charles and during this period he was a permanent 
member of the Audit and Risk Committee. 
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ALTERNATE NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ian Kramer  (49) CA(SA)

Ian qualified as a CA(SA) in 1993. He spent 20 years at KPMG, 11 years as an external audit partner as part of 
KPMG’ mining group, in which time he was seconded to Canada and subsequently appointed KPMG’s head 
of mining for Africa.  Ian joined AngloGold Ashanti in 2012 and is currently Senior Vice-president: Group 
Finance. He has significant experience in IFRS as well as US GAAP. 

Ian is an alternate to Christine Ramon.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Moses Madondo (45) BSc Eng, EMBA  

Moses joined AngloGold Ashanti in March 2018 as a senior vice-president responsible for leading deep-
level gold mines, gold plants, a uranium plant as well as a mine-services business supporting the mines. 

He previously served as an AngloGold Ashanti general manager responsible for operating a deep level gold 
mine with a large expansion project. 

He joined Rand Refinery on 10 January 2019 following the resignation of Theo Qabaka. 

Harry Ephraim Mashego (55) BA, BA (Hons), Global Executive Development Programme

Harry joined Harmony in 2005 and has been responsible for group human resources development, 
transformation and, most recently, government relations. He has more than 20 years’ experience in human 
resources, acquired largely in the industrial sector. He was appointed an executive director at Harmony on 
24 February 2010.

Harry joined the Board of Rand Refinery on 9 August 2017.

Christine Ramon (52) BCompt, BCompt (Honours), CA (SA), Senior Executive Programme 
(Harvard)

Christine joined AngloGold Ashanti as chief financial officer in October 2014. She has held senior financial 
management and executive positions in various companies, serving as CFO of Sasol from 2006 to 2013. 
Prior to that, she was CEO of Johnnic Holdings, having previously served as financial director. Christine is 
currently a non-executive director on the Board of MTN. She previously served on the boards of Transnet 
and Johnnic Communications.

She currently serves as the chairperson of the Listed Companies CFO Forum as a non-executive director 
of the International Federation of Accountants. She has previously served as deputy chair of the Financial 
Reporting Standards Council in South Africa.

Christine joined the Board of Rand Refinery as a non-executive director in October 2014.

Pieter Henning (42) BCom, BCompt (Hons), CA (SA)

Pieter is the Senior Vice President and Head of Finance of Sibanye Gold Limited’s South African gold 
business. He started his career at KPMG after which he joined Western Areas Limited in 2005 as financial 
manager. He was appointed chief financial officer of Western Areas Limited in January 2007 and, with Gold 
Fields Limited acquiring Western Areas Limited later that year, joined the Gold Fields financial reporting 
team. From 2009 to 2013, Pieter was part of the Gold Fields corporate finance division responsible for 
various capital raisings. Pieter has fulfilled various senior financial roles within Sibanye since its unbundling 
in 2013 from Gold Fields.

Pieter was appointed on 21 October 2005 as a non-executive director of Rand Refinery. 
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ALTERNATE NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mpho Mashatola   (29) CA (SA) 

Mpho was appointed as the Group Financial Controller for DRD Gold Limited in June 2018. She was 
previously an audit manager at KPMG Inc. 

Mpho joined Rand Refinery on 11 February 2019 as an alternate to Mark Burrell. 

Herman Perry (46) CA (SA)

Herman Perry is a chartered accountant by profession with over 15 years’ experience in the finance and 
treasury functions of gold mining companies. He has been in the finance function at Harmony Gold for 
the last eleven years, having previously worked in similar functions at AngloGold Ashanti. In addition to 
directorships of certain Harmony Group companies, he is a director and member of the investment and 
audit committees of the Rand Mutual Assurance Company.

Herman is an alternate to Harry Mashego.

DIRECTORS RESIGNED DURING THE YEAR

Mzikayise Theophilus Qabaka (58) B.Sc (Engineering), CIS (part II) 

Theo has been associated with the mining industry for approximately 30 years, working for De Beers, Shell 
SA, AngloGold Ashanti, New Diamond Corporation and Bateman. His experience is wide ranging as he 
has worked in production, projects and research. He was responsible for the day to day running (including 
environmental management) of Anglogold Ashanti SA surface operations and serves as a board member in 
a number of AngloGold Ashanti’s subsidiaries. Theo was previously Managing Director of the New Diamond 
Corporation and Bateman Africa.

Theo was appointed as a non-executive director of Rand Refinery with effect from 22 December 2014 and 
was appointed as the Chairman of the Social and Ethics Committee on 9 August 2017.  He resigned with 
effect from 31 December 2018.

Charles Symons (64) BCom, MBL, Dip Extractive Metallurgy 

Charles Symons joined the mining industry on 14 February 1977 and transferred to Crown Gold Recoveries 
Proprietary Limited in January 1986. He was appointed General Manager in 1995, Executive Officer: surface 
operations of DRDGold Limited on 1 January 2008 and as Executive Officer: Operations of DRDGold 
Limited on 11 May 2010. On 1 October 2011, he was appointed COO of DRDGold. Following the restructuring 
of senior management in July 2014, Charles Symons assumed the role of Chairman: Oversight Committee: 
Ergo Mining Operations Proprietary Limited. Charles was appointed NED EMO on 1 August 2016.

He was appointed as a non-executive director on the Rand Refinery Board on 5 September 2014 and was 
a member of the Remunerations and Nominations Committee. 

Charles Resigned on 31 December 2018 after his retirement from DRDGold and he was replaced by Mark 
Burrell.

Directors are appointed in terms of the process set out in the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation (MoI). 
The MoI provides for the appointment of a director by each shareholder who holds at least 10% of the issued share 
capital of the Company.

The current shareholding in Rand Refinery is disclosed on page 2 of the integrated annual report. As a result of 
their shareholding, the shareholders have appointed the following persons, who are employees of their respective 
companies, as directors on the Board of Rand Refinery:

AngloGold Ashanti

Sibanye Gold

DRDGold

Harmony Gold

KC Ramon (Alternate: I Kramer) and

M Madondo 

P Henning

M Burrell (Alternate: M Mashatola)

HE Mashego (Alternate: H Perry)
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FUNCTIONS OF THE BOARD

A solid governance framework is essential for the 
Company to perform optimally and, for the year under 
review, Rand Refinery continued to practise and hold a 
high standard of corporate governance. Rand Refinery 
has a unitary Board comprising nine directors, two of 
whom (including the Chairman) are independent non-
executive directors, five are non-executive (but not 
independent as they represent the shareholders) and 
two are executive directors. The Board is satisfied that 
the balance of power and objectivity on the Board are 
sufficient and do not require additional independence.
 
The Board is ultimately accountable and responsible 
for the performance and affairs of the Company. The 
Board is governed by a Board Charter, which sets out, 
inter alia, the Board’s duties and responsibilities. The 
Board Charter incorporates the principles of King IV 
wherever appropriate. 

The Chairman and the Chief Executive are separate, 
in line with good governance and best practice. The 
Board remains principally accountable to shareholders 
and provides strategic direction to the Company; 
approves and regularly reviews business plans, budgets 
and key policies; appoints the Chief Executive and 
other executive directors and oversees succession for 
these positions in the Company; delegates authority 
to management for the day-to-day running of the 
business of the Company, ensuring that power and 
authority delegated to management are clearly and 
comprehensively documented and regularly reviewed; 
ensures that the governance framework of the 
Company remains appropriate and relevant; monitors 
risk and oversees the implementation of approved 
strategies through a formal, structured approach to 
reporting and  accountability. 

BOARD MEETINGS 

Board meetings and Board committee meetings 
are scheduled annually in advance in the Company’s 
corporate calendar. The Board meets at least once 
every quarter. In addition, ad hoc meetings may be 
held when the business of the Company so requires. 

Meetings generally take place at the Company’s 
premises. Board papers, containing detailed 
information on issues to be addressed at the meeting, 
are usually provided to directors seven days before a 
scheduled meeting, with a view to affording directors 
ample opportunity to study the material presented and 
to request additional information from management 
where required. The work of the Board is set out in an 
annual work plan. In addition to matters that require 
consideration at specific meetings during the period 
and certain statutory formalities, the Board, at each 
quarterly meeting, regularly considers an operational 
report from the Chief Executive; a report on the 
Company’s financial performance and revised financial 
forecasts where necessary, and a summary of key risks 
and strategic objectives. 

At least once annually the Board:

• Reviews the Company’s goals and objectives, 
 reviews and approves the strategies for achieving 
 the Company’s goals, and reviews and approves the 
 policies related to the Company’s strategy;
• Approves the annual budget for the year ahead;
• Approves the integrated annual report to 
 stakeholders;
• Reviews the going concern status of the Company 
 with a view to giving the necessary assurance to 
 shareholders that the going concern basis of 
 accounting is and is likely to remain appropriate for 
 the 12 months ahead;
• Reviews and approves the Board Charter and the 
 composition and terms of reference of the Board 
 Committees;
• Reviews the Company’s business principles, reviews 
 shareholder and client relations; and assesses the 
 performance of the Board and Board Committees;
• Appoints the Chairman and members of the Board 
 Committees and reviews the succession plans in 
 respect of the Chief Executive and other key executive 
 positions through the Remuneration and Nominations 
 Committee; and
• Considers the re-appointment or removal of 
 the external auditors (through the Audit and Risk 
 Committee), subject to approval by the shareholders 
 at the annual general meeting.
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DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

The declaration of interests is a standard item on 
the agenda of each Board meeting and directors 
are reminded at regular intervals by the Company 
Secretary to update their declarations as appropriate. 

BOARD COMMITTEES 

• Audit and Risk;
* Remuneration and Nominations; and
• Social and Ethics. 

The constitution and terms of reference of each 
Committee are reviewed by the Board on an annual 
basis. 

The Board recognises that the delegation of any powers 
or authority to Committees does not in any way relieve 
the Board of its accountability and responsibility for 
the performance and affairs of the Company.

Members 16 Nov 18 15 Mar 19 24 May 19 2 Aug 19

Non-Executive Directors   

R Ramashia (Chairman) • • • •

F Daniel • • • •

P Henning • • • •

M Madondo n/a • • •

C Ramon • • A •

M Burrell n/a • • •

H Mashego • • • A

Executive Directors   

P Baijnath • • • •

D Subramanian • • • •

Alternate Directors   

M Mashatola (alternate to M Burrell)  n/a • n/a •

H Perry (alternate to H Mashego) n/a n/a n/a •

I Kramer (alternate to C Ramon) n/a n/a • •

Symbol Meaning
• Director attended the meeting
A Apologies received from director prior to meeting
n/a Attendance not required as director was not a member of the Board or Committee at  
 the time of the meeting, or the alternate director was not required to attend

2019 Attendance at Board meetings per calendar year:
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The Audit and Risk Committee comprises non-executive 
directors only; however, only the Chairman of the 
Committee is an independent non-executive director. 
The Chief Executive, the Chief Financial Officer and 
representatives of the internal and external auditors 
attend the meetings of the Committee by invitation. 

The Chief Executive, Chief Financial Officer and 
the Head: Human Resources are invited to attend 
all Remuneration and Nominations Committee 
meetings and are recused from the meeting when 
their remuneration is under consideration. In addition, 
a remuneration specialist (S van Rensburg) is a 
permanent invitee. 

The Chief Financial Officer, Head: Human Resources 
and Head: SHEQ and Evaluation are invited to attend 
all Social and Ethics Committee meetings. 

Board Committee meetings are held on a quarterly 
basis and the Chairman of each of the Committees 
reports to the Board on the deliberations of their 
respective Committees. In addition, a written report of 
the proceedings of each of the Committees is included 
in the papers for each Board meeting. The tables 
on the next page set out the directors’ and invitees’ 
attendance at Board Committee meetings. 

Members  7 Nov 18 19 Febr 19 19 Jul 19

R Ramashia (Chairman)  • • •

P Henning  • • •

M Madondo  n/a n/a •

Invitees

HR Consultant: S van Rensburg  • • •

P Baijnath  • • •

B Moeng  • • •

D Subramanian  • • •

Symbol Meaning
• Director attended the meeting
A Apologies received from director prior to meeting

n/a Attendance not required as director was not a member of the Board or Committee at  
 the time of the meeting, or the alternate director was not required to attend

2019 Attendance at the Remuneration and Nominations Committee meetings 

Rand Refinery Board Committees

Audit and Risk Committee 

Chairperson
F Daniels

Members
P Henning
M Burrell
C Ramon

Remuneration and 
Nominations Committee

Chairperson 
R Ramashia

Members
P Henning
M Burrell

Social and Ethics Committee 

Chairperson 
H Mashego

Members
M Madondo
P Baijnath
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Members 24 Oct 18 4 Mar 19 16 May 19 24 July 19

F Daniels (Chairman) • • • •

P Henning • • • •

M Burrell • • • •

C Ramon A A • A

Alternate Director   

I Kramer (alternate to C Ramon) • • n/a •

Invitees   

Representative from External Audit • • • •

Representative from Internal Audit • • • •

P Baijnath • • • •

D Subramanian • • • •

Members 4 Oct 18 13 Feb 19 21 May 19 16 July 19

H Mashego (Chairman) A • •  •

P Baijnath • • • •

M Madondo n/a n/a • •

Invitees   

T Nkosi • • • •

B Moeng • • • •

D Subramanian • • • •

2019 Attendance at Audit and Risk Committee meetings 

2019 Attendance at Social and Ethics Committee meetings
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THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 

The Executive Committee is constituted to assist 
the Chief Executive in managing the business of the 
Company and acts as a medium of communication and 
co-ordination between business units and the Board. 
The Chief Executive, and through him the Executive 
Committee, is conferred with all authorities deemed 
necessary to allow the Company’s business to be 
managed effectively and in line with good corporate 
governance requirements. However, certain items as 
per the delegation of authority have been reserved for 
decision making by the Board or its committees. 

Where a decision of the Executive Committee is reversed 
by the Chief Executive, the reversal must be formally 
documented in the Executive Committee minutes and 
the Board must be informed accordingly. During the 
2019 financial year, no decision taken by the Executive 
Committee was reversed by the Chief Executive. 

EXTERNAL LEGISLATION, 
REGULATIONS AND 
REQUIREMENTS 

The Board confirms that the Company endorses and 
has voluntarily undertaken to apply the provisions of 
King Code of Governance Principles (“King IV”). 

There are certain areas where Rand Refinery has 
elected not to apply the provisions of King IV because 
of the nature of its business and the structure of the 
shareholding in the Company. 

CERTIFICATE BY COMPANY 
SECRETARY 

In terms of Section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act, No. 71 
of 2008, I certify that Rand Refinery has lodged with the 
Companies and Intellectual Property Commission (CIPC) 
all such returns as are required of a private Company 
in terms of the Act, and that all such returns are true, 
correct and up to date. No penalties were imposed.  

BUSISIWE KHANGALE 
Company Secretary 

Subsequent event 
Busisiwe resigned effective 1 September 2019. The 
Company is in the process of interviewing for a 
replacement.  

The Executive Committee meets formally on a monthly 
basis to review: the Company’s operations; business 
risks; safety performance; progress against strategy; 
and issues that need to be considered by the Board 
Committees and the Board. In addition, the Executive 
Committee meets informally on a weekly basis to 
review key business parameters and the progress of 
identified tasks and action items.

Pursuant to its terms of reference, the Executive 
Committee is authorised to create sub-committees to 
assist it in the execution of its duties and responsibilities. 
These sub-committees are accountable to and report 
back to the Executive Committee on the execution of 
their responsibilities. The following sub-committees 
have been created: 

Committee 

Business Management Committee

Company Secretarial and Legal Committee

Customer and Credit Risk Committee

Financial Review Committee

Information Technology Committee

Legal Compliance Committee

Metal Accounting Committee

BBBEE Committee

Committee 

Profitability Committee

Projects Review Committee

Risk Management Committee

Safety, Health, Evaluation and Quality Committee

Talent Management Committee

Tender Committee

Treasury Committee
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APPLICATION OF KING IV 

Principle 
Principle 
description 

Application/explanation 

Principle 1: 
Leadership 

The governing 
body should 
lead ethically 
and 
effectively 

The Rand Refinery Board is its governing body and 
leads with integrity, competency, responsibility, 
accountability, fairness and transparency. 
The Board is the guardian of the values and ethics and 
ensured that the codes of conduct and ethics policies 
are approved annually and comply with the requisite 
requirements.  
The Board members hold each other accountable and 
the performance of the directors and the Board are 
assessed through a peer review process.  
Directors are provided with identified areas of training, 
to ensure continuous professional development.  

Principle 2: 
Organisation 
values, ethics 
and culture 

The Board should 
govern the ethics 
of the 
organisation in a 
way that supports 
the establishment 
of an ethical 
culture 

The Code of Business guides the ethical behaviour of all 
Rand Refinery employees, which includes interaction 
between colleagues, with clients, contractors, 
shareholders, suppliers and the communities within 
which Rand Refinery operates. 
Reports of the Social and Ethics Committee submitted 
to the Board and shareholders reflect Rand Refinery’s 
commitment to responsible corporate citizenship. 
Rand Refinery has a Code of Business Ethics, to which 
all members of the Board, management and 
employees of the group are required to adhere. The 
Code promotes and enforces ethical business 
practices. 

Principle 3: 
Responsible 
corporate 
citizenship 

The governing 
body should 
ensure that the 
organisation is 
seen to be a 
responsible 
corporate citizen 

The responsibility for monitoring the overall responsible 
corporate citizenship performance of the organisation 
is delegated to the Social and Ethics Committee, which 
provides reports to the Board on a quarterly basis.  
The Social and Ethics Committee approves the values 
of the organisation and ensures that the organisation’s 
responsible corporate citizenship efforts include 
compliance with the Constitution of South Africa, 
applicable laws and leading standards, and adhere to 
Rand Refinery policies and its code of conduct.  

imac
Underline
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Principle 
Principle 
description 

Application/explanation 

Principle 4: 
Strategy, 
implementation, 

performance 

The governing 
body should 
appreciate that 
the organisation’s 
core purpose, its 
risks and 
opportunities, 
strategy, business 
model, 
performance 
and sustainable 
development are 
all inseparable 
elements of the 
value creation 
process 

The Board is responsible for annually approving the 
company strategy as well as aligning the strategic 
objectives, vision and mission with performance and 
sustainability considerations. 
The Board empowers management to implement 
strategy and has a formalised risk management 
process which takes into account strategic and 
operational risk, encompassing performance and 
sustainability. 

Principle 5: 
Reports and 
disclosures 

The governing 
body should 
ensure that 
reports issued by 
the organisation 
enable 
stakeholders to 
make informed 
assessments of the 
organisation’s 
performance and 
its short, medium, 
and long- term 
prospects

The integrated report of the Company is issued 
annually and other Company reports are continuously 
reviewed and approved by the Board and its 
committees.  
The Board subscribes to a policy of open and prompt 
communications with shareholders and all relevant 
stakeholders for both its financial and non-financial 
affairs. 
Information relating to the required disclosures is 
contained in this integrated report. 

Principle 6: 
Role of the 
Board 

The governing 
body should serve 
as the focal point 
and custodian of 
corporate 
governance in 
the organisation 

The Board has embraced governance practices and 
principles and has ultimate accountability and 
responsibility for the performance and affairs of the 
company, including good governance practices and 
principles. 
The Board ensures that its role, responsibilities, 
membership requirements and procedural conduct 
are documented in its charter, which it regularly 
reviews to guide its effective functioning. 
In accordance with the Board Charter, the Rand 
Refinery Board is committed to the highest standards of 
corporate governance. 
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Principle 
Principle 
description 

Application/explanation 

The Board is responsible for aligning the strategic 
objectives, vision and mission with performance and 
sustainability considerations. The Company’s formalised 
risk management process takes into account the full 
range of risks including strategic and operational risk 
encompassing performance and sustainability. 
Rand Refinery subscribes to a unitary Board structure, 
comprising of non-executive (being both shareholder 
appointed and independent) and executive directors 
with a majority of non-executives. The shareholders 
ensure that the Board is at all times appropriately 
constituted. Membership is reviewed on an annual 
basis. 
The shareholding structure of Rand Refinery results in 
the majority of directors being non-executive, of whom 
two are independent non-executive directors.

Principle 7: 
Composition of 
the Board 

The governing 
body should 
comprise the 
appropriate 
balance of 
knowledge, skills, 
experience, 
diversity and 
independence for 
it to discharge its 
governance role 
and 
responsibilities 
objectively and 
effectively 

Director appointment is on condition that the proposed 
member possesses the appropriate balance of 
knowledge, skills, experience, diversity and 
independence of mind.  
Due to the shareholding structure of Rand Refinery, the 
majority of directors are non-executive, only two are 
independent non-executive directors. 
Membership to the Board is determined by the 
shareholders, who nominate their Board 
representative. Refer to the composition of the 
board on page 19. 

Principle 8: 
Committees of 
the Board 

The governing 
body should 
ensure that its 
arrangements for 
delegation within 
its own structures 
promote 
independent 
judgement and 
assist with 
balance of power 
and the effective 
discharge of its 
duties

duties

Delegation of matters and mandates to individuals 
and/or ad hoc committees are managed through a 
formal delegation-of-authority process and 
accompanying board resolutions. 
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Principle 
Principle 
description 

Application/explanation 

Principle 9: 
Evaluation of 
the 
performance of 
the Board 

The governing 
body should 
ensure that the 
evaluation of its 
own performance 
and that of its 
committees, its 
chair and its 
individual 
members, support 
continued 
improvement in its 
performance. 
and effectiveness 

A formal Board evaluation process is followed at least 
annually by the Remuneration and Nominations 
Committee to evaluate the effectiveness and 
performance of the Board, Board Committees, 
Chairman, Non-Executive Directors, Executive Directors 
and the Chief Executive.  

Principle 10: 
Appointment 
and delegation 
to 
management 

The governing 
body should 
ensure that the 
appointment of, 
and delegation 
to, management 
contribute to role 
clarity and the 
effective exercise 
of authority and 
responsibilities 

The Board is responsible for aligning the strategic 
objectives, vision and mission with performance and 
sustainability considerations. The Rand Refinery 
delegation of authority is reviewed annually to 
facilitate effective exercise of authority and 
responsibilities.  
The Chief Executive is appointed by the Board and is 
responsible for leading the implementation and 
execution of approved strategy, policy and 
operational planning. The Chief Executive also serves 
as the key link between management and the Board.  
Rand Refinery continuously adheres to sound practices 
in respect of succession planning, board delegation 
processes and an annual CEO performance 
evaluation. 

Principle 11: 
Risk 
governance 

The governing 
body should 
govern risk in a 
way that supports 
the organisation in 
setting and 
achieving its 
strategic 
objectives 

Rand Refinery adopts a well-defined enterprise-wide 
risk management function in the company which fully 
supports good governance practices. 
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Principle 
Principle 
description 

Application/explanation 

Principle 12: 
Technology 
and 
information 
governance 

The governing 
body should 
govern 
technology and 
information in a 
way that 
supports the 
organisation 
setting and 
achieving its 
strategic 
objectives. 

Rand Refinery has an IT governance framework in 
place reports the status and maturity of IT operations to 
the Audit and Risk Committee.  
The IT Governance Framework contains codes and 
principles currently applied to IT Governance. The IT 
Governance report is reviewed by the Audit and Risk 
Committee which exercises continuous oversight of 
technology and the management of technology, and 
information management.   

   Principle 13: 
Compliance 
governance 

The Audit and Risk Committee performs a monitoring 
role in respect of “any relevant legislation, other legal 
requirements or prevailing codes of best practice” that 
falls within its mandate. 
Rand Refinery monitors compliance with the top 16 
acts by making use of the legal compliance software 
programme, Exc!aim, in addition to manual legal 
compliance audits which are conducted quarterly.  

The governing 
body should 
govern 
compliance with 
applicable laws 
and adopted, non-
binding rules, 
codes, and 
standards in a way 
that supports the 
organisation being 
ethical and a good 
corporate citizen

The top 16 acts have been identified by the Legal 
Compliance Committee and are reviewed annually.  
The Legal Compliance report and Legal Compliance 
Framework is tabled quarterly at the Audit and Risk 
Committee meeting. 

Principle 14: 
Remuneration 
governance 

The governing 
body should 
ensure that the 
organisation 
remunerates fairly, 
responsibly and 
transparently so as 
to promote the 
achievement of 
strategic 
objectives and 
positive outcomes 
in the short, 
medium and long 
term

medium and long
term

The terms of reference of the Remuneration and 
Nominations Committee mandate this Committee to 
ensure that remuneration is fair, responsible and 
focused on Company strategy and desired outcomes. 
The remuneration policy of Rand Refinery is approved 
by shareholders. 
The remuneration of executive directors is disclosed in 
the Company’s’ annual financial statements. The 
remuneration of all executives is contained in the 
employment equity income differential report, which is 
not a public document but is prepared for the 
department of labour. 
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Principle 
Principle 
description 

Application/explanation 

Principle 15: 
Assurance 

The governing 
body should 
ensure that 
assurance 
services and 
functions enable 
an effective 
control 
environment, and 
that these support 
the integrity of 
information for 
internal decision 
making and of 
the organisation’s 
external reports 

Assurance services are provided by the external and 
internal auditors whose performance is reviewed 
annually and reports submitted to the Audit and Risk 
Committee. 
The Audit and Risk Committee reports on assurance 
and output of the organisation’s combined assurance 
to the Board.  

Principle 16: 
Stakeholder 
relationships 

In the execution of 
its governance 
role and 
responsibilities, the 
governing body 
should adopt a 
stakeholder- 
inclusive 
approach that 
balances the 
needs, interests 
and expectations 
of material 
stakeholders in the 
best interests of 
the organisation 
over time 

Stakeholder relationships are monitored by the Board 
and Board Committees. All shareholders receive 
necessary recognition by the Board and are treated 
equally. 



Committee 

Profitability Committee

Projects Review Committee

Risk Management Committee

Safety, Health, Evaluation and Quality Committee

Talent Management Committee

Tender Committee

Treasury Committee

Areas where Rand Refinery does not apply 
the provisions of King IV are as follows: 

• The Board does not currently have an independent 
 non-executive member who is appointed as the lead 
 independent director. This will, however, be 
 considered by the Remuneration and Nominations 
 Committee when Board and Board committee 
 membership is reconsidered.
• The Board Charter does not limit the number of 
 board appointments that non-executive directors can 
 accept. This will be considered by the Remuneration 
 and Nominations Committee when the Board 
 and Board committee membership is reconsidered.
• Members of the Remuneration and Nominations, and 
 Audit and Risk Committee are not all independent, 
 non-executive directors. This is as a result of the 
 Board composition, which is approved by shareholders.
• The minutes of the Rand Refinery AGM are not  
 available publicly.

The Audit and Risk Committee monitors the application 
of the provisions of King IV within the Company and 
agrees on areas where Rand Refinery should not apply 
the provisions of King IV. 

EVALUATION OF BOARD PERFORMANCE 

An evaluation process is conducted towards the end of 
each financial year. The evaluation process is separated 
into a review of the Board’s and Board Committees’ 
performance and a review of the performance of 
individual directors.  These reviews are conducted in 
alternate years. 

The performance of the Board and Board Committees 
was assessed in 2017 and assessed again, subsequent 
to the FY2019 year end. The results of this evaluation 
were considered by the Remuneration and Nominations 
Committee and recommended to the Board for 
adoption. The evaluation revealed no material concerns. 
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AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE REPORT

The Audit and Risk Committee (“the Committee”), 
whose duties are delegated to it by the Board, presents 
its report for the financial year ended 31 August 2019. 
The Committee operates under terms of reference 
which are approved by the Board, reviewed annually 
and amended as is considered necessary to ensure 
the mandate of the Committee remains appropriate 
and relevant. 

The Audit and Risk Committee has an independent 
role with accountability to both the Board and 
shareholders. This Committee is also responsible for 
assisting the Board in discharging its duties in respect 
of protecting Company assets, accounting systems and 
practices, internal control processes and preparation of 
the annual financial statements. 

During the year under review, the Committee fulfilled 
its mandate by convening four meetings and dealt with 
a comprehensive agenda at each of those meetings.  
The Committee received appropriate information from 
internal audit, external audit, management and other 
sources deemed necessary to fulfil its obligations. The 
external and internal auditors attended the Audit and 
Risk Committee meetings and had unrestricted access 
to the Committee and its Chairman. 

OBJECTIVES AND SCOPE 
The overall objectives of the Committee are to: 

• Assist the Board in discharging its duties relating 
 to the safeguarding of assets and the operation of 
 adequate systems and control processes;
• Control reporting processes and the preparation 
 of financial statements in compliance with the 
 applicable legal and regulatory requirements and 
 accounting standards;
• Provide a forum for the governance of risk, 
 including control matters and developing 
 recommendations for consideration by the Board;
• Oversee the internal and external audit appointments 
 and functions; and
• Perform duties that are attributed to it by the 
 Companies Act and King IV.

DUTIES PERFORMED 
Duties performed by the Committee during the 
financial period:

• Reviewed and discussed the audited Annual 
 Financial Statements with the external auditors, 
 the Chief Executive and the Chief Financial Officer;
• Reviewed and recommended for adoption 
 by the Board, the Integrated Annual Report;
• Approved the enterprise wide risk ratings, matrix 
 and plan, which are used as a basis to determine 
 specific focus areas for the assurance and internal audit;
• Reviewed the combined assurance procedure;
• Reviewed any significant adjustments 
 resulting from the external auditor’s queries and 
 approved any unadjusted audit misstatements;

• Reviewed reports from both internal and external 
 auditors concerning the effectiveness of the 
 internal control environment, systems and processes;
• Reviewed the reported findings of both internal 
 and external auditors and their concerns and 
 monitored management’s response and actions 
 to these findings to ensure the risks identified were 
 adequately mitigated; 
• Evaluated the independence of the external 
 and internal auditors and ensured that no 
 additional services that might impair their 
 independence were performed during the period;
• Addressed all ‘whistle blowing’ incidents that were 
 reported to the committee by the internal audit;
• Reviewed and approved the plans and fees for both 
 the internal and external audit;
• Reviewed the performance and expertise of the Chief 
 Financial Officer and confirmed his suitability for the 
 position; and
• Reviewed a documented assessment, including 
 key assumptions, prepared by management on 
 the going concern status of the Company, and 
 accordingly made recommendations to the Board. 

The Committee is satisfied that it fulfilled its obligations 
in respect of its scope and responsibilities. 

MEMBERSHIP 

Audit and Risk Committee memberships is comprised 
solely of non-executive directors. The Chairman   of the 
Committee is an independent non-executive director. 
The Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officer, internal 
audit and the external auditors are permanent invitees. 
Details of membership of the Committee can be found 
in the Corporate Governance report. The effectiveness 
of the Committee is assessed every two years. As 
required by the Companies Act, the Committee is 
to be elected by shareholders at the forthcoming 
annual general meeting. The biographical details 
of the Committee members and their attendance 
at meetings appear on pages 19 to 26 of this report. 

EXTERNAL AUDIT 

The external auditor’s opinion is unmodified. 

The Committee has satisfied itself through enquiry that 
the external auditors of Rand Refinery are independent 
as defined by the Act. Meetings were held with the 
auditor where management was not present. Although 
non-audit services were provided by the external 
auditors during 2019, this did not impact on their 
independence. 

The external auditor, (PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.) 
has unrestricted access to Company records and 
management. The auditor furnishes a written report 
to the committee on significant findings arising from 
the annual audit and is able to raise matters of concern 
directly with the chairperson of the Committee.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Committee has recommended to the shareholders 
for consideration at the next annual general meeting 
the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. as 
external auditors for the 2020 financial year. 

COMPLIANCE 

The Committee is responsible for reviewing any major 
breach of relevant legal and regulatory requirements. 

The Committee satisfied itself that, during the period 
under review, there was no material non-compliance 
with laws or regulations. 

This Committee has complied with all its legal, 
regulatory and other related responsibilities during the 
year under review.

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 

The Committee fulfils an oversight role regarding the 
report and the reporting process and has evaluated 
the Integrated Annual Report, incorporating the 
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 
31 August 2019. The Committee assessed the 
consistency with operational, financial and other 
information known to it and for consistency with 
the Annual Financial Statements. The Committee 
considered the sustainability information as disclosed 
in the report. The Committee also considered the 
external assurance providers’ report and is satisfied 
that the information is reliable and consistent with the 
financial results. 

The annual financial statements have been prepared 
using appropriate accounting policies, which conform 
to International Financial Reporting Standards. 

In the Audit and Risk Committee’s view the Company’s 
system of internal financial control is continuously 
improving. The IT General Control environment 
and Metal Accounting control system continue to 
be monitored. Based on the results of the formal 
documented review of the Company’s system of internal 
control and risk management, including the design, 
implementation and effectiveness of internal controls 
conducted by the internal audit department and other 
assurance providers, during 2019, and considering the 
information and explanations given by management 
and discussions with the external auditor on the results 
of their audit, the Audit and Risk Committee is satisfied 
that the Company’s system  of internal financial control 
forms an adequate basis for the preparation of reliable 
financial statements. 

The Committee therefore recommended the Integrated 
Annual Report for approval to the Board. The Board 
has subsequently approved the Integrated Annual 
Report, which is open for discussion at the annual 
general meeting. 

FATIMA DANIELS 
Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee 
11 November 2019

The Annual Financial Statements which appear on 
pages 49 to 100 are the responsibility of the directors.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance of 
adequate accounting records and the preparation and 
integrity of the financial statements and the related 
information. The financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards and to the requirements of the 
Companies Act, No 71 of 2008, by the accounting staff 
of Rand Refinery headed by Mr Dean Subramanian, the 
Chief Financial Officer. This process was supervised 
by Mr Praveen Baijnath who is the Chief Executive 
of Rand Refinery. The Group’s independent auditors, 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc., have audited the 
financial statements

The directors are also responsible for the Company’s 
systems of internal control. These are designed to 
provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance, as to 
the reliability of the financial statements, to adequately 
safeguard, verify and maintain accountability of 

the assets and to prevent and detect material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The 
systems are implemented and monitored by suitably 
trained personnel with appropriate segregation of 
duties. Nothing has come to the attention of the 
directors to indicate that any material breakdown in the 
functioning of these controls, procedures and systems, 
has occurred during the period under review.

The financial statements have been prepared on 
the going concern basis. Nothing has come to the 
attention of the directors to indicate that the Company 
and Group will not remain a going concern for the 
foreseeable future.

The annual financial statements were approved by the 
board of directors on 14 November 2019 and signed on 
its behalf by:

RAMS RAMASHIA PRAVEEN BAIJNATH
Chairman  Chief Executive
14 November 2019

Integrated Annual Report 2019 36



SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE REPORT 

The Rand Refinery Social and Ethics Committee (“the 
Committee”) presents its report for the year ended 
31 August 2019. This Committee was constituted to 
assist the Board in ensuring that Rand Refinery is, and 
remains, a good and responsible corporate citizen, and 
to perform the statutory functions required of a Social 
and Ethics Committee in terms of Section 72(4) of the 
Companies Act, 2008 read with regulation 43. 

ROLE AND FUNCTION OF THE COMMITTEE
 
In accordance with its terms of reference and annual 
work plan, the Committee fulfils the functions and 
responsibilities assigned to it in terms of the Companies 
Regulations and such other functions as may be 
assigned to it by the Board from time to time in order 
to assist the Board in ensuring that Rand Refinery 
remains a responsible corporate citizen. 

In addition, as emphasised in the King IV Report on 
Corporate Governance for South Africa, 2016 (King 
IV), this committee’s role is to have oversight of and 
report on organisational ethics, responsible corporate 
citizenship, sustainable development and stakeholder 
relationships. This will help to ensure sustainability 
while serving the interests of stakeholders on whom 
the business depends. 

The role of the committee is to: 

• Fulfil statutory duties set out in regulation 43 to the 
 Act: and
• Oversee and report on organisational ethics, 
 responsible corporate citizenship, sustainable 
 development and stakeholder relationships.
• Assist the board in facilitating and supporting the 
 development of transformation objectives, ensuring 
 the corporate culture is supportive of the approach 
 and monitoring and reporting actual performance 
 against transformation objectives. 

The Committee has an independent role, with 
accountability to the board. It does not assume 
the functions of management, which remain the 
responsibility of executive directors, prescribed officers 
and other members of senior management. Nor does 
it assume accountability for functions performed by 
other committees of the board. 

MEETINGS 

The Committee met quarterly during the year under 
review and details of attendance and membership is 
included in the Corporate Governance section of the 
Integrated Annual Report. 

PUBLIC REPORTING 

A report by this Committee is submitted in terms 
of regulation 43(5)(b) at each Board meeting. This 
Committee reviews the annual sustainability content 
included in the Integrated Annual Report.  

ASSURANCE 

Based on the processes in place, assurances obtained, 
and information reported, it is my opinion that the 
Committee executed its duties and responsibilities 
in accordance with regulatory requirements and 
its mandate. Following the quarterly review by the 
Committee, the Committee is satisfied that Rand 
Refinery performed its duties in terms of the areas 
listed above as well as maintained an acceptable 
balance between its financial performance and its 
social, safety, economic, governance, employment and 
environmental responsibilities. 

EPHRAIM HARRY MASHEGO 
Chairman of the Social and Ethics Committee 
22 October 2019
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

NATURE OF BUSINESS 

Rand Refinery one of the largest integrated single-site 
precious metals refining and smelting complexes in 
the world. Our principal business is the smelting and 
refining of precious metals and the production and 
selling of value-added products.

SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised
The authorised share capital of Rand Refinery as at       
31 August 2019 was made up of 430 000 ordinary 
shares and 1 200 000 preference shares.

Issued
The issued share capital of Rand Refinery as at                      
31 August 2019 was made up of 393 126 ordinary        
shares and 859 175 (2018: 1 152 352) preference shares.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The financial statements fully set out the financial 
position, results of operations and cash flows 
of the Group and the Company for the financial 
year ended 31 August 2019. The Group recorded 
a profit after taxation for the year of R615 million 
(2018: R476 million).

IMPAIRMENT

An impairment of R49 million was processed on the 
plant and equipment of the smelter division. The asset 
had a carrying value of R86 million.

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

The Audit and Risk Committee report on pages 35 to 36 
where we set out the responsibilities of the committee 
and how it has discharged these for the year.

SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE

Social and Ethics Committee report on pages 37 sets 
out the responsibilities of the Committee and how it 
has discharged these responsibilities in the year.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Dividend proposals are discussed by the board bi-
annually. In determining whether to propose a dividend, 
management and the board are cognisant of the 
solvency and liquidity  requirements  of  the  Company, 
particularly in light of the  provisions  of  the Companies 
Act, the Company’s capital and operational expenditure 
requirements or its cash and cash equivalent at all times. 
Dividend proposals are reviewed by the Audit and Risk 
Committee prior to being proposed to the board for 
approval. No ordinary dividends will be payable until 
the preference shares have been fully redeemed.
 
No dividends were declared during the year under 
review.

BORROWINGS

The Memorandum of Incorporation allows, in the event 
that the Company’s resources are insufficient to fund 
development of the Company’s business or funding for 
any working capital requirements, that the board may, 
from time to time, exercise borrowing powers in respect 
of the Company in its ordinary course of business. This 
will be subject to the outstanding borrowings of the 
Company not exceeding R100 million in aggregate 
without the prior approval of shareholders at a 
shareholders’ meeting.

The above will also be subject to shareholders’ 
acknowledgement that the Company is a party to 
existing gold loans (also referred to as gold lease or 
metal leases) and will enter into future gold loans, 
all for the purpose of optimising the manufacturing 
pipeline. These gold loans may be entered into by the 
Company without any limitation on their individual or 
aggregate value, but the Company agrees that gold 
loans cannot be used for the development of the 
Company’s business or for the funding of any working 
capital requirements.

Metal leases
On 31 August 2019 the Group had obligations to return 
1 689 kg (2018: 1 440 kg) of gold and 19 704 kg (2018:
19 724 kg) of silver which had been leased to optimise 
the manufacturing pipeline for the benefit of depositors.

These leases are rolled over periodically for periods not 
exceeding 12 months. These obligations are covered by 
in-process metal and offset against off-balance-sheet 
inventory as there are legally enforceable rights to 
settle the obligations by returning the metal.

LITIGATION

The following material litigation and legal matter is 
pending:

Asap Vasa Company Limited (Asap Vasa)
In terms of a refinery contract signed on 30 September 
2009 between Asap Vasa and Rand Refinery, it was 
agreed that Asap Vasa could deliver gold and silver to 
Rand Refinery to facilitate a purchase on a forward-
sale basis. Asap Vasa failed to honour this agreement. 

Judgement was granted in favour of Rand Refinery for 
the property of Asap Vasa and a warrant of execution 
issued. A valuer was appointed to assess the value of 
the assets seized. An application for stay in execution 
of the auction was filed by Asap Vasa and the auction 
was suspended. 

On 22 June 2018, the auctioneer was served with a 
notice of claim against the building owned by Asap 
Vasa, in which the claimant alleged that she was the 
owner of this property. The auctioneer was then barred 
from auctioning off the property until this issue was 
resolved. The Court ordered the parties to file witness 
statements and supporting documents. 
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The judge hearing the matter was unavailable to 
continue with the hearing on 10 October 2019 and 
the parties were requested to return to court on               
25 October 2019 to meet with the judge and schedule 
the next hearing date.

Underwriters at Lloyds
Rand Refinery submitted a claim that it had suffered 
a physical loss of precious metal from its Germiston 
premises during 2013/2014.

There are disputes between Rand Refinery and the 
insurer as to whether the loss is indemnifiable under 
the insurance policy, and agreed to the determination 
of such disputes by arbitration.

The matter is ready to progress to arbitration, subject 
to the discovery of documents processed.

According to the attorneys, the matter could be 
finalised during the course of 2020, depending on the 
facts being admitted by the underwriters.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Company redeemed preferences shares to the value 
of R500 million (2018: R275 million). The redemption 
consists of 533 049 shares at a per valued R938 per 
share. The redemption was approved by the Board on 
the 14 November 2019, payable on 2 December 2019.

SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS

The 99th annual general meeting of the Company was 
held on 14 November 2019.

DIRECTORATE 
The following changes to the board occurred during 
the year under review:
Appointments: Moses Madondo, Mark Burrell, 
Mpho Mashatola
Resignations: Theo Qabaka, Charles Symons

PUBLIC OFFICER
Ms T Pieterse 
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Independent auditor's report 

To the Shareholders of Rand Refinery (Proprietary) Limited 

Our opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated and separate financial position of Rand Refinery (Proprietary) Limited (the 
Company) and its subsidiaries (together the Group) as at 31 August 2019, and its consolidated and 
separate financial performance and its consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies 
Act of South Africa. 

What we have audited 

Rand Refinery (Proprietary) Limited's consolidated and separate financial statements set out on pages 
47 to  99 comprise: 

• the consolidated and separate statements of financial position as at 31 August 2019;

• the consolidated and separate statements of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

• the consolidated and separate statements of changes in equity for the year then ended;

• the consolidated and separate statements of cash flows for the year then ended; and

• the notes to the annual financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting
policies.

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the

audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

Independence 

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the sections 290 and 291 of the Independent 
Regulatory Board for Auditors' Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (Revised
January 2018), parts 1 and 3 of the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors' Code of Professional
Conduct for Registered Auditors (Revised November 2018) (together the IRBA Codes) and other 
independence requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements in South Africa. 
We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities, as applicable, in accordance with the IRBA Codes 
and in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits in South Africa. 
The IRBA Codes are consistent with the corresponding sections of the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants' Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants and the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants' International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(including International Independence Standards) respectively. 

Other information 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the document titled Rand Refinery Integrated Annual Report 2019, which 
includes the Directors' Report, the Audit and Risk Committee Report and the Certificate by Company 

� ..... ·················································· ........................ ························· ............ ···························································································································· 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc., 4 Lisbon Lane, Waterfall City, Jukskei View, 2090 
Private Bag X36, Sunninghill, 2157, South Africa 
T: +27(0) 117974000, F: +27(0) 112095800, www.pwc.co.za 
Chief Executive Officec L S Machaba 
The Company's prtncipal place of business is at 4 Lisbon Lane, Waterfall City, Jukskei View, where a list of directors' names is available for inspection. 
Reg. no. 1998/012055/21, VAT reg.no. 4950174682. 



pwc 
Secretary as required by the Companies Act of South Africa. The other information does not include 
the consolidated or the separate financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. 

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements does not cover the other 
information and we do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, our responsibility 
is to read the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated and separate financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated and separate financial 
statements 

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and 
separate financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the 
requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal control as the directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, the directors are responsible for 
assessing the Group and the Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group and/ or the Company or to cease operations, or have 
no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated and separate financial 
statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's and the Company's internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors. 
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• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting 

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's and the Company's ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated and separate 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group and/ or Company to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. 
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 
we identify during our audit. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. 

Director: Jean-Pierre van Staden 

Registered Auditor 

Johannesburg 

14 November 2019 



REMUNERATION REPORT

REMUNERATION POLICY 

Rand Refinery’s remuneration approach is aimed at 
creating a sustainable remuneration structure that is 
aligned to the overall business strategy, objectives 
and values of the company without being detrimental 
to the interests of its stakeholders. Rand Refinery’s 
remuneration policy ensures that an equitable 
remuneration framework is documented which is 
fair and competitive in the market and equips the 
organisation to deliver the required operational 
performance. This is achieved by providing 
remuneration guidelines that attract, retain and 
motivate potential or existing associates.

The Remuneration philosophy aims to reinforce, 
encourage and promote required performance and 
is not a stand-alone management process, but is 
integrated into other management processes. 

The Board of Rand Refinery is ultimately responsible 
for the remuneration philosophy and the application 
thereof is materially guided in this regard by the 
Remuneration and Nominations Committee. The 
remuneration philosophy, as approved by the 
shareholders, Board and the Company, endeavours to 
attract a broad talent pool, but in certain instances may 
focus on scarce skills and specialised talent required 
for the success and uniqueness of Rand Refinery.

Remuneration design 

When determining appropriate remuneration design, 
fairness, consistency and compliant legislative 
requirements are considered 

• Market positioning
Rand Refinery uses the 50th percentile of a blended 
mining and manufacturing compensation as a 
benchmark to inform its Remuneration Practices and 
Philosophy.  

To remain competitive, market-related premiums will 
be considered for certain scarce skills, employment 
equity purposes.

• Market benchmarking / remuneration surveys
The services of an independent consultant are used to 
establish the market movements in earnings.

• Organisational structure - levels of accountability 
and pay bands
In order to establish an optimal organisational structure 
for Rand Refinery, it is important to make a clear 
distinction between levels of accountability and pay 
bands. Rand Refinery uses the approved job evaluation 
grade of the position to determine the remuneration 
and benefits relative to the market benchmarks.
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2019 Remuneration policy and structure 

 
The table below sets out the major remuneration components covered in the remuneration policy that was 
recommended by the Remuneration and Nominations Committee (REMCO), approved by the Board and the 
2018 annual general meeting. 
 

 
Remuneration element Objective Maximum Opportunity Performance Measures 
Total Guaranteed Package 
salary structure 
 

Applicable to Paterson D 
and above bands 
Is defined in terms of a total 
guaranteed package, which 
include a basic salary, 
retirement savings, and 
death, disability, healthcare 
insurance and funeral 
contributions. 

Aligned to market 
benchmarks approved on 
an annual basis by REMCO  
Salary increases are based 
on general cost of living 
(inflation CPI), Rand 
Refinery’s performance, 
affordability and prevailing 
market conditions. Paterson 
D Band and above are 
effective 1 September 
annually. 

All Paterson D and above 
bands increases are 
informed by inflation, and 
directly linked to CPI. 

Basic Salary plus add- ons  Applicable to Paterson B 
and C bands. 
Remuneration is based on 
a basic wage plus a 
guaranteed 13th cheque 
and benefits (i.e. Company 
contributions to benefit 
funds). 

Aligned to market 
benchmarks approved on 
an annual basis by 
REMCO. 
Wage increases for 
Paterson B and C Band 
associates are effective in 
line with agreements 
concluded with recognised 
trade unions. 

Application across the 
board. 

Quarterly incentive bonus 
(applicable to Paterson B 
and C bands) 
 

This quarterly incentive is 
achieved based on targets 
set for Evaluation, Smelter, 
Fabrication, Refinery and 
the Support Functions.  

Maximum achievable 
percentage per annum is 
12% of salary per annum or 
3% quarterly.  

Quarterly incentive 
scheme payable every 
quarter  

Short term incentive 
scheme 

Applicable to Paterson D 
and above. 
This is an annual cash 
incentive determined by the 
performance of Rand 
Refinery against a set 
annual company scorecard  

The final payable incentive 
percentage applied per 
Paterson grade is guided by 
the maximum potential 
earning.  
The on-target potential 
earning percentage is 
based on the Total cost to 
company 

Annual Incentive Scheme 
payable once a year. 
 

Long term incentive 
scheme 

The objective of the 
scheme is to enable Rand 
Refinery to provide a long-
term incentive to senior 
eligible associates. 
This scheme is restricted to 
certain identified 
participants on the DL, DU, 
E, F Paterson band levels 

Membership of long-term 
incentive scheme is 
determined by the rules set 
by the Executive Directors 
from time to time and are 
overseen by the 
Remuneration and 
Nominations Committee. 

The Long-term incentive 
scheme is a cash based 
settled scheme. 
 

	
	
 

 
 
 
 
 




